
          

 

 

AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP 
COMMUNITY DISTRICT 

 

COLLIER COUNTY 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

& PUBLIC HEARING 
MARCH 7, 2023 

6:00 P.M. 
 

 

 

 

 

Special District Services, Inc. 
The Oaks Center 

2501A Burns Road 
Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33410 

www.avemariastewardshipcd.org 
561.630.4922 Telephone 
877.SDS.4922 Toll Free 
561.630.4923 Facsimile 



AGENDA 
AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING & PUBLIC HEARING 
March 7, 2023 

6:00 p.m. 
Ave Maria Master Association (office/fitness center) 

5080 Annunciation Circle, Unit 101 
Ave Maria, Florida 34142 

TO JOIN VIA ZOOM: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84351784590 
MEETING ID: 843 5178 4590 DIAL IN AT: 1-929-436-2866 

A. Call to Order 

B. Pledge of Allegiance 

C. Invocation 

D. Proof of Publication……………………………………………………………………………………Page 1 

E. Establish a Quorum 

F. Additions or Deletions to Agenda  

G. Comments from the Public for Items Not on the Agenda 

H. Approval of Minutes 

1. February 7, 2023 Regular Board Meeting Minutes………………………………………………..Page 2 

I. Public Hearing 

1. Proof of Publication………………………………………………………………………………..Page 9 

2. Receive Public Comments Adopting Rules Relating to Parking and Parking Enforcement 

3. Consider Resolution No. 2023-04 – Adopting Rules Relating to Parking and Parking 
Enforcement………………………………………………………………………………………..Page 10 

J. Old Business 

K. New Business 

1. Discussion Regarding the Presentation of District Meeting Materials  
 Audience Comments 

2. Consider Approval of Cost Share Agreement between the District and Ave Maria Utility 
Agreement………………………………………………………………………………………….Page 16 

 Audience Comments 

3. Consider Approval of Proposal from Davey for Tree Pruning ……………………………………Page 28 

 Audience Comments 

L. Administrative Matters 

1. Legal Report 
a. Update on National Gate Operation  

2. Engineer Report 
a. Discussion Regarding Restriping Agreement 

3. Manager’s Report 

a. AMSCD Projects Update…………………………………………………………………..Page 31 
b. Financials…………………………………………………………………………..……....Page 32 

M. Board Members Comments 

N. Adjourn 



Miscellaneous Notices 

Published in Naples Daily News on February 28, 2023 

Location 
Collier County, Florida 
Notice Text 

AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT NOTICE OF 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING The Board of Supervisors (the "Board") of 
the Ave Maria Stewardship Community District (the "District") will hold a 
Regular Board Meeting ("Meeting") at 6:00 p.m. on March 7, 2023, in the 
Ave Maria Master Association located at 5080 Annunciation Circle, Unit 
101, Ave Maria, Florida 34142, and will also hold the Meeting utilizing 
communications media technology through the following login 
information: Join by URL for VIDEO ACCESS 
at: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84351784590 Meeting ID: 843 5178 4590 
Join by PHONE at: 1-929-436-2866 Meeting ID: 843 5178 4590 The 
purpose of the Meeting is for the Board to address District related items 
as noted on the Agenda. At such time the Board is so authorized and 
may consider any business that may properly come before it. A copy of 
the agenda may be obtained at the offices of the District Manager, 
Special District Services, Inc., 2501A Burns Road, Palm Beach Gardens, 
Florida 33410 (561) 630-4922, during normal business hours, or by 
visiting the District's website at www.avemariastewardshipcd.org seven 
(7) days prior to the meeting date. The meeting is open to the public 
and will be conducted in accordance with the provisions of Florida law. 
The meeting may be continued to a date, time and place to be specified 
on the record at the meeting. There may be occasions when Board 
Supervisors or District Staff may participate by speaker telephone. Any 
person requiring special accommodations at this meeting because of a 
disability or physical impairment should contact the District Manager's 
Office at least forty-eight (48) hours prior to the meeting. If you are 
hearing or speech impaired, please contact the Florida Relay Service by 
dialing 7-1-1, or 1-800-955-8771 (TTY)/1-800-955-8770 (Voice), for aid 
in contacting the District Manager's office. Each person who decides to 
appeal any decision made by the Board with respect to any matter 
considered at the meeting is advised that person will need a record of 
proceedings and that accordingly, the person may need to ensure that a 
verbatim record of the proceedings is made, including the testimony 
and evidence upon which such appeal is to be based. AVE MARIA 
STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY 
DISTRICT www.avemariastewarshipcd.org PUBLISH: 2/28/2023 No. 
5605947 

 
Page 1



Page 1 of 5 
 

AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING  
Ave Maria Master Association 

5080 Annunciation Circle, Unit 101  
Ave Maria, Florida 34142 

or 
TO JOIN VIA ZOOM: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83198051068 

MEETING ID: 831 9805 1068  DIAL IN AT: 1 929 436 2866 
FEBRUARY 7, 2023 

 
 

A. CALL TO ORDER 
 
The February 7, 2023, Regular Board Meeting of the Ave Maria Stewardship Community District 
(the “District”) was called to order at 9:00 a.m. in the Ave Maria Master Association located at 5080 
Annunciation Circle, Unit 101, Ave Maria, Florida 34142.  The meeting was also available via the 
Zoom information indicated above.  
 
B. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  
 
C. INVOCATION 
 
Mr. Klucik led the meeting in prayer. 
 
D. PROOF OF PUBLICATION 
 
Proof of publication was presented indicating that notice of the Regular Board Meeting had been 
published in the Naples Daily News on January 30, 2023, as legally required. 

 
E. ESTABLISH A QUORUM 

 
A quorum was established with the following: 
 
Board of Supervisors 
Chairman Thomas Peek Absent 
Vice Chair Jay Roth Present 
Supervisor Jeff Sonalia Present 
Supervisor Tom DiFlorio Present 
Supervisor Robb Klucik Present 

 
District Staff in attendance were:   
 
District Manager Andrew Karmeris  Special District Services, Inc. 

District Manager Todd Wodraska (via Zoom) Special District Services, Inc. 

General Counsel  Alyssa Willson  Kutak Rock, LLP 

Page 2



Page 2 of 5 
 

District Engineer Ted Tryka  Agnoli Barber & Brundage, 
Inc. 

Owner Representative David Genson  Barron Collier Companies 

 
Also present were the following: 
 
Kim Twiss, Donnie Diaz, Roger Echols, Commissioner McDaniel, and the following Ave Maria 
residents: David Shnaider, John & Yvonne Turner, Stu Grzenkowicz, Kevin Schang, Leslie Beal, 
Mary Bethhickey, Bea & David Sanford, Sue Schweizer, Debbie Saultz, and Mary Mootz.  
 
There were also others present via Zoom. 
 
F. ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS TO AGENDA 
 
New Business item #5 Consider Two Proposals from O’Donnell Landscaping regarding palm tree 
replacement.  
 
G. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC FOR ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA 
 
Beatrice Sanford asked about a bench on Milano that went missing?  Mr. Diaz informed Ms. Sanford 
that there were a supply chain issues with the manufacturer that led to the specific bench no longer 
being produced.  A replacement bench will be installed.  
 
A resident also asked about the sidewalks on at the National being open to the public.  Staff stated 
they would research who owns the sidewalk but believes they are public.  
 
H. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
 1. January 10, 2023, Regular Board Meeting Minutes 
 
The minutes of the January 10, 2023, Regular Board Meeting were presented for consideration.   
 
A motion was made by Mr. DiFlorio, seconded by Mr. Sonalia and passed unanimously approving 
the minutes of the January 10, 2023, Regular Board Meeting, as presented.   
 
I. OLD BUSINESS 
 

1. Discussion Regarding Updated Parking Policy 
 
Ms. Willson presented her memo provided in the agenda package and explained the towing policy 
and rules.  She also added that as previously discussed by the Board, an alternative location for 
parking large vehicles is being evaluated.  
 
Mr. Klucik thanked Ms. Willson for the comprehensive memo and policy.  He then asked multiple 
questions regarding specific language in the policy and discussed defining additional terms in the 
policy.  
 

Page 3



Page 3 of 5 
 

Mr. Roth asked how a towing company would know the weight of certain vehicles?  Do the tow 
companies weigh each vehicle? 
 
Mr. Karmeris was directed to find out how a towing company would determine weight of vehicles.  
 

a. Consider Resolution No. 2023-03 Adopting Rules Related to Overnight Parking 
 
Ms. Willson presented: 
 

RESOLUTION 2023-03 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE AVE 
MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT TO DESIGNATE THE 
DATE, TIME AND PLACE OF A PUBLIC HEARING AND 
AUTHORIZATION TO PUBLISH NOTICE OF SUCH HEARING FOR 
THE PURPOSE OF ADOPTING RULES RELATING TO OVERNIGHT 
PARKING AND PARKING ENFORCEMENT. 

 
A resident asked if there was a provision to accommodate vehicle parking in Ave Maria? 
 
Mr. Genson stated that an alternative location for parking is being worked on and will hopefully be 
the old construction compound where the temporary EMS Fire was located.  
 
A motion was made by Mr. Klucik, seconded by Mr. DiFlorio and passed unanimously to adopt 
Resolution 2023-03 Adopting Rules Related to Overnight Parking upon district counsel making the 
modifications to the language as discussed.  
 
I.  NEW BUSINESS 
  

1. Presentation on New Urgent Care Facility 
 
This item was tabled for an upcoming meeting (either March or April).  
 

2. Consider Approval of Cost Share Agreement 
 
Ms. Willson presented and explained that it would be developer funded.  Mr. Klucik asked what the 
plan was for restriping all roads in the community?  Mr. Genson stated that all of the assets of the 
District are being compiled into the new asset management software in order to plan for future repairs 
and maintenance.  Mr. Klucik thanked the developer.  
 
A motion was made by Mr. DiFlorio, seconded by Mr. Sonalia and passed unanimously approving 
the Cost Share Agreement as presented.  
 

3. Consider Approval of Davey Tree Landscaping Installation 
 

Mr. Diaz presented the proposals and identified the areas of the community in which they apply to.  
 
A motion was made by Mr. DiFlorio, seconded by Mr. Sonalia and passed unanimously approving 
the Davey Tree Landscaping Installation proposal.  

Page 4



Page 4 of 5 
 

 
4. Consider Approval of Proposals for Walking Path Repairs  

 
Mr. Diaz presented the proposals and identified the areas of the community in which they apply to. 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Klucik, seconded by Mr. DiFlorio and passed unanimously approving 
the Walking Path (Sidewalks) Repair proposals.  
 

5. Consider Approval of O’Donnell Landscape Installation Proposals 
 
Mr. Diaz presented the proposals and identified the areas of the community in which they apply to.  
 
A motion was made by Mr. Klucik, seconded by Mr. DiFlorio and passed unanimously approving 
the O’Donnell Landscaping Palm Tree Replacement proposals.  
 
 
P. ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 
 

1. Legal Report  
a. Update on National Gate Operation Procedures Letter 

 
Ms. Willson presented her letter that was sent to Lennar and the gate operations vendor regarding the 
procedures that must be followed.  Mr. Roth asked if the sidewalks going in to the National had gates 
as previously mentioned by a resident during the meeting.  It was confirmed that there are gates and 
Mr. Klucik stated that you cannot force pedestrians into the road therefore the gates should be open 
to the public if funded by district bond proceeds.  
 
Mr. Grzenkowicz stated that nothing has changed as far as operations at the National Gate as of the 
date of this meeting.  Ms. Sanford asked if Mr. Genson as the developer could address the issue with 
the developer of the National.  Mr. Genson stated that the developer is letting the district go through 
the process of getting district business resolved until the point it necessitates developer intervention.  
 
Mr. Klucik added that he will be vigilant in getting this issue resolved and is hopeful that Ms. 
Willson’s efforts are effective.  
 
 2.  Engineer’s Report 
 
Mr. Tryka had nothing further to report.  
 
 3.  Manager’s Report 
 
 a AMSCD Projects Update 
 
Mr. Genson went over the projects update and fielded questions from the Board.  
 
 b. Financials  
 
Mr. Karmeris presented the financial report provided in the agenda package.  
 

Page 5



Page 5 of 5 
 

Q. BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS 
 
There were no board member comments.  
 
M. ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business to come before the Board, the Regular Board Meeting was adjourned 
at 10:17 a.m. by ViceChair Roth.  There were no objections. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
________________________________ __________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  Chair/Vice-Chairman 
 

Page 6



AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT 
 

FEBRUARY 2023 

Project Name Start 
Date 

End 
Date 

Est. Cost % 
Complete 

Responsible 
Party 

Comments 

Landscaping S. 
AMB- Phase II 

01/2023 TBD  TBD 0% District In current year operating 
budget.  

Anthem Parkway 
Phase 5A & 5B 

2nd 
Quarter 

2023 

Public 
School 
Start 

TBD TBD AMD Design and Permitting 
underway 

Trees Replacement 
around Milano, 
Avilla and AMB 

2022 TBD TBD TBD District Proposal in February meeting 
packet.  

Signage throughout 
community 

N/A 1st 
Quarter 

2023 

N/A N/A AMD Signage plan and guidelines 
presented at January 2023 

Meeting.    
Parking on District 
Roads 

TBD TBD N/A N/A AMD/District Lease agreement for old EMS 
site being prepared.    

Town Core Striping 
and Flashing Signs 

TBD TBD TBD 0% District Board awarded contract at 
January 2023 meeting.  

Timetable will be updated 
once available.   

Asset Management TBD TBD TBD TBD AMD/District Subcontractor has been hired 
and is collected data for 
system. 

Reserve Funds 
(Irrigation and 
O&M) 

TBD TBD TBD TBD District Rate Adjustment 
presentation expected at 
February or March 2023 

meeting. 

Page 7



AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT 
 

External Projects       
Public School K-5 2023 2025   School District School District took over 

project 
Immediate Medical 
Care  

TBD TBD TBD   Provider to give presentation 
at February or March 2023 

meeting.  
Ave Maria National 
Entrance – Speed 
and Golf Cart 
Signage 

NA NA NA   Monitoring and documenting 
situation.  

 

Page 8



Page 9



1 
 

RESOLUTION 2023-04 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY 
DISTRICT ADOPTING RULES RELATING TO PARKING 
AND PARKING ENFORCEMENT; RATIFYING THE 
ACTIONS OF THE DISTRICT MANAGER TO PROVIDE 
NOTICE THEREOF; AND PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the Ave Maria Stewardship Community District (“District”) is a local unit of 
special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 2004-461, Laws of Florida, 
(the “Act”) being situated in Collier County, Florida; and  

WHEREAS, the Act authorizes the District to adopt resolutions as may be necessary for 
the conduct of district business; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District (“Board”) is authorized by the Act to 
tow vehicles and vessels from its property pursuant provided that the District follows the 
authorization and notice and procedural requirements in Section 715.07, Florida Statutes; and 

 
WHEREAS, the District desires to adopt Rules Relating to Parking and Parking 

Enforcement (“Rule”), pursuant to the provisions of the Act and Section 715.07, Florida Statutes,  
designate Tow-Away Zones, authorize contracting of proper towing vendors and provide for 
operation and enforcement of the Rules by the District; and 

WHEREAS, the Board scheduled the date of the public hearing for Tuesday, March 7, 
2023, at 6:00 P.M., at 5080 Annunciation Circle, Unit 101, Ave Maria, Florida 34142, and the 
District Manager has caused the notice of the public hearing, with the date to be published in a 
newspaper of general circulation in Collier County, Florida, consistent with the requirements of 
the Act; and  
  

WHEREAS, the Board finds that it is in the best interests of the District to adopt by 
resolution the Rule for immediate use and application. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD 
OF SUPERVISORS OF THE AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP 
COMMUNITY DISTRICT: 

SECTION 1. The District Manager’s actions in setting the public hearing are hereby 
ratified. 

SECTION 2. The District hereby adopts the Rule, attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

SECTION 3.   If any provision of this Resolution or the Rule is held to be illegal 
or invalid, the other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 

Page 10



2 
 

SECTION 4. This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain in 
effect unless rescinded or repealed. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of March 2023. 

ATTEST:     AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY 
DISTRICT 

       
 
 
 
             
Secretary/Assistant Secretary    Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 
 

Page 11



3 
 

EXHIBIT A 

 

AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT 
RULE RELATING TO PARKING AND PARKING ENFORCEMENT 

 
 
 In accordance with Chapter 2004-461, Laws of Florida, and on  , 2023 at a 
duly noticed public meeting following public hearing, the Board of Supervisors of the Ave 
Maria Stewardship Community District (the “District”) adopted the following policy to 
govern overnight parking and parking enforcement on certain District property (the 
“Policy”). 
 
 
SECTION 1.  INTRODUCTION.  The District finds that parked Class B Vehicles, Class C Vehicles, 
and any Vessel or Trailer which exceeds the designated area of a single parking space or is not 
connected to a motorized Vehicle (as such capitalized terms are hereinafter defined) on certain of 
its property (hereinafter defined) cause hazards and danger to the health, safety and welfare of 
District residents and the public. This Policy is intended to provide the District with the ability to 
remove such Class B Vehicles, Class C Vehicles, Vessels and Trailers from District designated 
Tow-Away Zones consistent with this Policy and as indicated on Exhibit A attached hereto. This 
Policy authorizes parking in any areas outside of the Tow-Away Zone depicted on Exhibit A.   
 
SECTION 2.  DEFINITIONS.   
 

A. Class B Vehicle. Any mobile item which normally uses wheels, whether 
motorized or not, that weighs between 10,001 pounds and 20,000 pounds (gross 
vehicle weight), including but not limited to medium duty trucks, motor homes 
and camper trailers. 
 

B. Class C Vehicle.  Any mobile item which normally uses wheels, whether 
motorized or not, that weighs more than 20,001 pounds (gross vehicle weight), 
including but not limited to heavy duty trucks, house trailers and buses. 

 
C. Trailer. Any non-motorized, mobile structure which normally uses wheels that 

is drawn by a Vehicle. 
 

D. Vehicle. Any mobile item which normally uses wheels, whether motorized or 
not. 

 
E. Vessel. Every description of watercraft, barge, or airboat used or capable of 

being used as a means of transportation on water.  
 

F. Parked. A Vehicle, Trailer or Vessel left unattended by its owner or user. 
 

Page 12



4 
 

G. Tow-Away Zone.  District property in which parking is prohibited and in which 
the District is authorized to initiate a towing and/or removal action. 

 
SECTION 3.  DESIGNATED PARKING AREAS.  Those areas within the District’s boundaries depicted 
in Exhibit A, which is incorporated herein by reference, are hereby established as “Tow-Away 
Zones” for all Class B Vehicles, Class C Vehicles and any Vessel or Trailer which exceeds the 
designated area of a single parking space or is not connected to a motorized Vehicle (“Tow Away 
Zone”).  Exceptions to this Policy include parking of any Vehicle providing a construction or 
service operation within a quarter mile of the site where it is parked for a maximum period of three 
hours.  To be entitled to this exemption, the owner or driver must post on the Vehicle’s windshield 
the time initially Parked and address of service site.  Furthermore, Vehicle must be removed as 
soon as the construction or service activity is completed. 
 
SECTION 4.  ESTABLISHMENT OF TOW-AWAY ZONES.  The areas set forth in Exhibit A attached 
hereto are declared a Tow Away Zone. 

 
SECTION 5.  TOWING/REMOVAL PROCEDURES. 
 

A. SIGNAGE AND LANGUAGE REQUIREMENTS.  Notice of the Tow-Away Zones shall be 
approved by the District’s Board of Supervisors and shall be posted on District property in 
the manner set forth in section 715.07, Florida Statutes and all applicable Collier County 
requirements including but not limited to the Collier County Non-Consent Towing, Private 
Property Towing, Immobilization and Storage of Vehicles Ordinance, as such may be 
amended from time to time.  Such signage is to be placed in conspicuous locations, in 
accordance with section 715.07, Florida Statutes. 
 

B. TOWING/REMOVAL AUTHORITY.  To effect towing/removal of a Class B Vehicle, Class 
C Vehicle and any Vessel or Trailer which exceeds the designated area of a single parking 
space or is not connected to a motorized Vehicle (the “Designated Vehicle”), the District 
Manager or his/her designee must verify that the Designated Vehicle was not authorized to 
Park under this rule.  Upon such verification, the District Manager or his/her designee shall 
determine whether this is the Designated Vehicle’s first offense of this Policy.   

 
1. If the first offense, the District Manager or his/her designee shall place a written 

warning on the windshield of the Designated Vehicle.  Such written warning shall 
include the time of issuance of the warning. If the Designated Vehicle remains 
parked in the Tow Away Zone for 24 hours following the issuance of a written 
warning, the District Manager or his/her designee then must contact a firm 
authorized by Florida law to tow/remove the Designated Vehicle for the removal at 
the owner’s expense.  The Designated Vehicle shall be towed/removed by the firm 
in accordance with Florida law, specifically the provisions set forth in section 
715.07, Florida Statutes.   

2. If the Designated Vehicle has previously parked in violated on this Policy and 
received a warning as described above, the District Manager or his/her designee 
may immediately contact a firm authorized by Florida law to tow/remove the 
Designated Vehicle for the removal at the owner’s expense.  The Designated 

Page 13



5 
 

Vehicle shall be towed/removed by the firm in accordance with Florida law, 
specifically the provisions set forth in section 715.07, Florida Statutes.   

 
C. AGREEMENT WITH AUTHORIZED TOWING SERVICE. The District’s Board of Supervisors 

is hereby authorized to enter into and maintain an agreement with a firm authorized by 
Florida law to tow/remove unauthorized vehicles in accordance with Florida law and with 
the policies set forth herein.   

 
SECTION 6.  PARKING AT YOUR OWN RISK.  Vehicles may be parked on District property pursuant 
to this rule, provided however that the District assumes no liability for any theft, vandalism and/ 
or damage that might occur to personal property and/or to such vehicles. 
 
EXHIBIT A – Tow Away Zone 
Effective date:   , 2023 

  

Page 14



6 
 

Exhibit A: 

Tow Away Zone Depicted in Yellow Highlight 

 

 

Page 15



 

1 
 

COST SHARE AGREEMENT BETWEEN AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP 
COMMUNITY DISTRICT AND AVE MARIA UTILITY COMPANY, LLLP, FOR 

CONSULTING SERVICES 
 
 THIS AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and entered into as of this _____ day of 
_______________ 2023, by and between: 

 
Ave Maria Stewardship Community District, a local unit of special-purpose 
government established pursuant to Chapter 2004-461, Laws of Florida, being 
situated in Collier County, Florida, and whose mailing address is 2501A Burns 
Road, Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410 (the “District”); and 
 
Ave Maria Utility Company, LLLP, a Florida limited liability limited 
partnership, whose address is 2600 Golden Gate Parkway, Naples, Florida 34105 
(“AMUC” together with the District, the “Parties”). 
 

RECITALS 
 
 WHEREAS, the District was established for the purpose of planning, financing, 
constructing, installing, operating, and/or maintaining certain infrastructure; and 
 
 WHEREAS, AMUC has contracted with an independent contractor to provide geographic 
information system and asset management consulting services (the “Services”) for assets located 
within the District owned by a variety of community parties, including the District, as further 
outlined in Exhibit A, attached hereto; and 
 
 WHEREAS, for ease of administration and the benefits received by the residents and 
property owners within the District, the District has agreed to provide funding for a portion of 
the Services as described in Exhibit A related to District assets; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Parties desire to memorialize and set forth clearly their understanding and 
agreement with respect to allocation of costs between the Parties for the Services as well as 
certain other matters addressed herein. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the recitals, agreements, and mutual covenants 
contained herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which 
are hereby acknowledged by the Parties, the Parties agree as follows: 
 
 1. INCORPORATION OF RECITALS.  The recitals stated above are true and correct 
and by this reference are incorporated into and form a material part of this Agreement. 
 

2. CONSULTING SERVICES CONTRACT AND COST SHARING.   
 
A. The Parties acknowledge that it is in the best interest of the residents and 

property owners within the District for the Services to be provided within 
the District. The Parties herein agree that the District shall not be 

Page 16



 

2 
 

considered a party to the consulting services contract other than by virtue 
of the District’s status.    
 

B. As compensation for the Services described in Exhibit A rendered through 
September 30, 2023, the District agrees to pay AMUC a total of Fifty 
Thousand Dollars and No Cents ($50,000.00).  It is anticipated that there 
may be remaining Services provided after September 30, 2023, or 
supplemental Services that may be authorized pursuant to Section 3 below 
in future fiscal years.  Additional compensation for such Services may be 
authorized pursuant to future amendment executed by both Parties 
pursuant to Section 8 below. 

 
3. APPROVAL OF SUPPLEMENTAL SERVICES.  AMUC shall notify the District, in 

advance, of any supplemental services proposed to be provided by AMUC that it is requesting 
additional funds from the District. The District shall approve or deny the provision of such 
supplemental services, in writing within forty-five (45) days of the notification, prior to 
commencement of such services. The District shall not be required to compensate AMUC for 
any supplemental services performed without prior written consent.  

 
4. PAYMENT OF COSTS.  The District shall make payments in advance to AMUC for 

the costs, including any supplemental services approved pursuant to Paragraph 3, above. AMUC 
shall invoice the District for their payment. The District shall make payments no later than 
fifteen (15) days after receipt of invoice.   
 
 5. TERMINATION.  The Parties shall each have the right to terminate this Agreement 
for any reason upon sixty (60) days written notice. Upon termination, the District and AMUC 
shall account to each other with respect to all matters outstanding as of the date of termination.  
Upon termination, the District shall not be responsible for any future services, including any 
Services that have not yet been performed. If District had advance funded any Services that have 
not been performed at the time of termination, AMUC shall refund such monies to the District.  
Upon termination of this Agreement, AMUC shall provide District with all records pertaining to 
the District assets and compiled on its behalf in a format accessible by the District. 
 
 6. INDEMNIFICATION.  AMUC agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the District 
and its officers, agents and employees from any and all liability, claims, actions, suits or 
demands by any person, corporation or other entity for injuries, death, property damage or other 
damage of any nature, arising out of, or in connection with, any negligent act or omission, or 
willful misconduct, of AMUC. The provisions of this Paragraph 6 shall survive any revocation, 
suspension or termination of this Agreement. 
 
 7.  NEGOTIATION AT ARM’S LENGTH.  This Agreement has been negotiated fully 
between the Parties as an arms-length transaction. The Parties participated fully in the 
preparation of this Agreement and received the advice of counsel. In the case of a dispute 
concerning the interpretation of any provision of this Agreement, all Parties are deemed to have 
drafted, chosen and selected the language, and the doubtful language will not be interpreted or 
construed against any party. 

Page 17



 

3 
 

 
 8.   AMENDMENT.  Amendments to and waivers of the provisions contained in this 
Agreement may be made only by an instrument in writing which is executed by all of the Parties 
hereto. 
 
 9. AUTHORITY TO CONTRACT.  The execution of this Agreement has been duly 
authorized by the appropriate body or official of all Parties hereto, each party has complied with 
all the requirements of law, and each party has full power and authority to comply with the terms 
and provisions of this instrument. 
 

10.  NOTICES.  All notices, requests, consents and other communications hereunder 
("Notices") shall be in writing and shall be delivered, mailed by Federal Express or First Class 
Mail, postage prepaid, to the Parties, as follows: 
 
  If to AMD:    Ave Maria Utility Company, LLLP 
      2600 Golden Gate Parkway 
      Naples, Florida 34105 
      Attn: Jason Vogel 
 
  If to District:   Ave Maria Stewardship Community District 
      2501A Burns Road 
      Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410 

Attn: District Manager 
 
  With a copy to:    Kutak Rock LLP 
        107 West College Avenue 
        Tallahassee, Florida 32301 
        Attn: Alyssa C. Willson 
 
 
 Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, any Notice shall be deemed received 
only upon actual delivery at the address set forth above.  Notices delivered after 5:00 p.m. (at the 
place of delivery) or on a non-business day, shall be deemed received on the next business day.  
If any time for giving Notice contained in this Agreement would otherwise expire on a non-
business day, the Notice period shall be extended to the next succeeding business day.  
Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays recognized by the United States government shall not be 
regarded as business days.  Counsel for the Parties may deliver Notice on behalf of the Parties.  
Any party or other person to whom Notices are to be sent or copied may notify the other parties 
and addressees of any change in name or address to which Notices shall be sent by providing the 
same on five (5) days written notice to the parties and addressees set forth herein. 
 
 11. APPLICABLE LAW AND VENUE.  This Agreement and the provisions contained 
herein shall be construed, interpreted and controlled according to the laws of the State of Florida.  
Venue for any dispute arising under this Agreement shall be in a court of appropriate jurisdiction 
in Collier County, Florida. 
 

Page 18



 

4 
 

 12. TERM.  This Agreement shall become effective as of the date of execution by the 
last signing party and renew annually until completion of the Services, along with any additional 
services authorized pursuant to Section 3 above.  Prior to each renewal the AMUC may, with 60 
days’ written notice to District request an update to the costs described in section 2 upon 
reassessment. Any such change in cost allocation and computation of the costs will only be 
effective once executed by the Parties. 
 
 13. ENFORCEMENT.  A default by either Party under this Agreement shall entitle the 
other Parties to all remedies available at law or in equity, which shall include, but not be limited 
to, the right of damages, injunctive relief and specific performance.   

 
14. ATTORNEYS’ FEES.  In the event any Party is required to enforce this Agreement 

or any provision hereof through binding arbitration, court proceedings or otherwise, the 
prevailing Party shall be entitled to recover from the non-prevailing party all fees and costs 
incurred, including but not limited to reasonable attorneys' fees incurred prior to or during any 
such arbitration, litigation or other dispute resolution, and including fees incurred in appellate 
proceedings. 

 
15. ASSIGNMENT.  This Agreement may not be assigned, in whole or in part, by any 

Party.  Any purported assignment without such approval shall be void.  
   
 16. LIMITATIONS ON GOVERNMENTAL LIABILITY.  Nothing in this Agreement shall 
be deemed as a waiver of immunity or limits of liability of the District beyond any statutory 
limited waiver of immunity or limits of liability which may have been adopted by the Florida 
Legislature in Section 768.28, Florida Statutes, or other statute, and nothing in this Agreement 
shall inure to the benefit of any third party for the purpose of allowing any claim which would 
otherwise be barred under the Doctrine of Sovereign Immunity or by operation of law.  
 
 17. PUBLIC RECORDS. The AMUC understands and agrees that all documents of any 
kind for Services performed on behalf of the District, pertaining to District assets, or provided to 
the District or to District Staff in connection with the work contemplated under this Agreement 
are public records and are treated as such in accordance with Florida law. 
 
 18. BINDING EFFECT; NO THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  The terms and provisions 
hereof shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the District and AMUC.  This 
Agreement is solely for the benefit of the formal Parties hereto and no right or cause of action 
shall accrue upon or by reason hereof, to or for the benefit of any third party not a formal party 
hereto.  Nothing in this Agreement, expressed or implied, is intended or shall be construed to 
confer upon any person or corporation other than the Parties hereto any right, remedy or claim 
under or by reason of this Agreement or any provisions or conditions hereof; and all of the 
provisions, representations, covenants and conditions herein contained shall inure to the sole 
benefit of and shall be binding upon the Parties hereto and their respective representatives, 
successors and assigns. 
 
 19. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between 
the Parties with respect to its subject matter and all antecedent and contemporaneous 

Page 19



 

5 
 

negotiations, undertakings, representations, warranties, inducements and obligations are merged 
into this Agreement and superseded by its delivery.  No provision of this Agreement may be 
amended, waived or modified unless the same is set forth in writing and signed by all of the 
parties to this Agreement, or their respective successors or assigns. 

 
 20. EXECUTION IN COUNTERPARTS.  This instrument may be executed in any number 
of counterparts, each of which, when executed and delivered, shall constitute an original, and 
such counterparts together shall constitute one and the same instrument. Signature and 
acknowledgment pages, if any, may be detached from the counterparts and attached to a single 
copy of this document to physically form one document. 
 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 

Page 20



 

6 
 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties execute this agreement the day and year first 
written above. 
 
Attest:      Ave Maria Stewardship Community District 
 
 
_____________________________  _________________________________________ 
Secretary / Assistant Secretary  Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
 
____________________________  Print Name: _______________________________ 
Print Name 
 
 
 
Attest:      Ave Maria Utility Company, LLLP 

a Florida limited liability limited partnership 
      
 
_____________________________  By: ______________________________________ 
Witness      
      Print Name: _______________________________ 
_____________________________ 
Print Name     Title: _____________________________________ 
       
 
 
Exhibit A:  Consulting Services Proposal 
 

Page 21



 

 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

Consulting Services Proposal 
 
 
 

Page 22



 

 

 

 

 

Page 23



 

 

Page 24



 

 

 

Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



AVE MARIA STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY DISTRICT 
 

MARCH 2023 

Project Name Start 
Date 

End 
Date 

Est. Cost % 
Complete 

Responsible 
Party 

Comments 

Landscaping S. 
AMB- Phase II 

01/2023 09/2023  $185,919 TBD% District Project is underway and in 
current year operating 

budget.   
Anthem Parkway 
Phase 5A  

2nd 
Quarter 

2023 

Public 
School 
Start 

TBD TBD AMD Design and Permitting 
underway 

Anthem Parkway 
Phase 5B 

3rd 
Quarter 

2023 

Public 
School 
Start 

TBD TBD AMD Will take longer due to 
environmental permits.  

Trees Replacement 
around Milano, 
Avilla and AMB 

2022 3/2023 $90,000 TBD District Proposals approved at 
February meeting.  

Installation expected to be 
complete by early March. 

Signage throughout 
community 

N/A 2nd  
Quarter 

2023 

N/A N/A AMD Signs are in fabrication and 
expected installation 2nd 

quarter of 2023.     
Parking on District 
Roads 

01/2023 2nd 
Quarter 

2023 

N/A N/A District Public hearing on towing 
policy set for March 2023 

meeting. Lease agreement for 
old EMS site being prepared.   

Town Core Striping 
and Flashing Signs 

01/2023 6/2023 $188,000 TBD District Board awarded contract at to 
Quality Enterprises USA.   

Page 31



Page 32



Page 33


	Ave Maria Stewardship Community District - March 7, 2023 Regular Board Meeting & Public Hearing Book
	Agenda
	Proof of Publication
	February 7, 2023 Regular Board Meeting Minutes
	Public Hearing
	Proof of Publication
	Consider Resolution No. 2023-04 – Adopting Rules Relating to Parking and Parking Enforcement

	Consider Approval of Cost Share Agreement between the District and Ave Maria Utility Agreement
	Consider Approval of Proposal from Davey for Tree Pruning
	AMSCD Projects Update
	Financials




